List of ships illustrated in the Alec Garner series “Echoes of the Paddlewheel”

SS Alberta (ex State of Idaho) 1893-1900

The SS State of Idaho was a wooden sternwheeler constructed near Bonners Ferry for the Bonners Ferry & Kaslo Transportation Co. in 1893.  It worked on Kootenay Lake and River from Bonners Ferry to Kaslo and Nelson. It was wrecked near Ainsworth on November 10, 1893 and then auctioned off as a wreck of $350. It was purchased for the Alberta & BC Exploration Co. and refitted in Kaslo and renamed the SS Alberta.  It returned to work on the lake on May 16, 1895. It worked the route from Nelson to Bonners Ferry from 1898 to 1900 and became a relief steamer after that. The machinery was sold and the hulk was used as a houseboat at Galena Bay until it was destroyed by fire in 1920.

SS Argenta 1900-1910
A wooden sternwheeler built in Mirror Lake for the Great Northern Railroad. It was leased to the Great Northern Railway subsidiary, Kootenay Railway & Navigation Co., and worked from Kaslo through to Duncan Lake to the Upper Duncan River until 1904. It was laid up in 1910 and the machinery and fittings were sold in 1912.

SS Bonnington 1911-1930
Constructed in 1911 in Nakusp, this ship plied the Arrow Lakes during the summer months. In service from 1911 to 1931 it is worked from Robson West to Arrowhead from mid-May to the end of September.  It was sold for parts in 1933, some parts were used in its sister ship the SS Nasookin, and then the SS Bonnington was resold to F.W. Sutherland of Arrowhead.  Rumours swirled of its conversion to a pleasure hall, but it was again resold, partially dismantled, and the remaining infrastructure was sunk. The remains of the hull are visible during low water at Beaton.

SS Kootenay 1897-1920

The SS Kootenay was the last sternwheeler to be built for the Columbia & Kootenay Steam Navigation Company in 1897 at Nakusp.  It began its service in May 1897 on the Arrowhead to Robson West run on the Arrow Lakes.  After 1911 it was used only during the winter months until it was laid up in 1918.  It was then used as a houseboat on the Arrow Lakes until the 1940's.   It is considered to be one of the hardest working boats in the Canadian Pacific Railway fleet.

SS Creston 1908-1920

The SS Creston was a wooden sternwheeler that was built in Nelson for use on the Lower Kootenay River System. It worked small excursions and jobbing until it was broken up in 1920.

SS Sicamous 1914
The SS Sicamous was a steel-hulled sternwheeler built at Okanagan Landing for use on Lake Okanagan.  It was used on the express run from Penticton to Okanagan Landing and returned daily from 1914 to January 1935.  The ship was cut down in 1935 and used for freight service, tourist transportation and jobbing during the fruit season.  It was laid up in 1937 and sold to the City of Penticton, August 1951, and is now part of the Okanagan Inland Marine Heritage Park. The Sicamous was the sister boat to the SS Bonnington used on the Arrow Lakes.

SS Kuskanook 1906-1931

Built with a wooden hull at the Nelson Shipyard in 1906 for the Canadian Pacific Railway, the SS Kuskanook was used primarily between Nelson and Kootenay Landing.  It was replaced in 1913 by the SS Nasookin and was redirected to the Nelson-Kaslo route, providing relief for the SS Nasookin and doing excursion runs until 1930. In 1931 it was placed on the Procter-Crawford Bay-Lardeau run for a few months until it was retired.  It spent a few years moored to the Nelson City Warf for use as a floating hotel until it was towed to Kokanee Landing where it sank in 1936.Its hull is still visible at low water.

SS Trail 1896-1900

The SS Trail was a wooden sternwheeler that was built at Nakusp in 1896 for the Columbia & Kootenay Steam Navigation Company. It was used for the transportation of materials for construction of the Columbia Western Railway, for towing barges and jobbing between Robson and Robson West where it was destroyed by fire in 1900.

SS Kaslo 1900-1910

The SS Kaslo was built in 1900 at Mirror Lake for the Great Northern Railway and leased to the Kootenay River & Navigation Company express service that ran between Kaslo and Kuskonook. From 1901-1906 it worked on the Nelson-Kaslo run, then from 1906-1908 worked as a spare boat.  A hole was punched in its hull at Ainsworth on a submerged piling in May of 1910, which led to its return to Mirror Lake where it was scrapped.

SS Slocan 1897-1905

The SS Slocan was built at Rosebery on Slocan Lake for the Canadian Pacific Railway in 1897. It was designed for short daylight service, with only two staterooms on board, but was licensed to carry 300 passengers. It provided two round trips per day connecting with the train service to Nakusp. Its hull was scrapped in 1905 and the boiler engines and upper works were transferred to the new SS Slocan.

SS Illecillewaet 1893 -1902

Built at Revelstoke for the Columbia & Kootenay Steam Navigation Company in 1893, it had a reinforced prow that was used for breaking ice on the river and lake shallows, and a shallow draft that allowed it to navigate the low water levels on the Columbia River and Arrow Lakes.  It was purchased in 1897 by the Canadian Pacific Railway and retired in 1902 when the bridge was built in Castlegar. It was then sold and used as a barge and for scrap.

SS Marion
The SS Marion was built in 1888 at Golden for Captain F. P. Armstrong, in 1889 it was sold and shipped to Revelstoke to work from Revelstoke south to Sproats Landing.  In 1890 it was sold to Captain Robert Sanderson and worked as a low-water vessel on the Arrow Lakes until 1897 when it was shipped to Kootenay Lake for operation on the Duncan River and Kootenay Flats until 1901. It sank in a storm at Kaslo in January 1901 and was subsequently broken up.   Captain Sanderson then used the engines for boring wooden water pipes at Halcyon for his hot springs in 1907.

SS WM Hunter 1893-1900

A wooden twin-screw steamship, the WM Hunter was built in New Denver in 1893 for the Slocan Trading & Navigation Company.  It worked on Slocan Lake between Bonanza City, New Denver and Slocan City.  It was purchased by the Canadian Pacific Railway in 1898 and was retired and scrapped in 1901.

SS Okanagan 1907-1934

Built at Okanagan Landing in 1907 for the Canadian Pacific Railway, the SS Okanagan ran the express run to Penticton from 1907 to 1914.  It was a daily return run, from Okanagan Landing to Penticton with the exception of Sundays.  From 1914-1934 it was a relief boat and jobber during the fruit and tourist seasons.  It was laid up in 1934 and sold in 1938 and dismantled.  The salvaged stern salon is now part of the Okanagan Inland Marine Heritage Park.

SS Revelstoke 1904-1915

The SS Revelstoke, built at Nakusp in 1902 for the Revelstoke Navigation Company, it was a ten passenger rugged boat built for whitewater on the Big Bend.  It replaced the SS Lytton on the Columbia River run above the Revelstoke narrows. It worked jobbing, excursion and relief runs on Upper Arrow Lake and Columbia River.  It was destroyed by fire at Comaplix in April 1915.  

SS Nasookin 1932-1946

The SS Nasookin was rebuilt in 1932 as an automobile ferry to run the Kootenay Lake crossing until 1946.  It was leased to the British Columbia government to carry vehicles from Frasers Landing (downstream from Procter) to Gray Creek.  The overhanging deck was removed between the bow and front cabins to accommodate larger trucks.  The upper cabins, no longer needed for overnight excursions, were also removed which helped reduce crosswinds as the boat crossed Kootenay Lake.  The reconstruction involved the removal of the majority of the upper stateroom decks and the relocation of the pilothouse and saw one of the lounges moved further forward.  The Nasookin remained in service until 1947 when the MV Anscomb went into service. It was sold for scrap in 1953 after the hull buckled at the Nelson City Warf.

SS Spokane 1892-1895

The SS Spokane was built at Bonners Ferry, Idaho for supply work for the construction of the Great Northern Railway between Bonners Ferry and Jennings, Montana.  In 1893 it was purchased by the Columbia & Kootenay Steam Navigation Company and lengthened.  It worked on Kootenay Lake and was used as a landing stage at Kaslo when the wharf was washed away in the flood of 1894.  It was destroyed by fire at Kaslo in March of 1895.

SS Lytton 1890-1902
The SS Lytton was built for the Columbia & Kootenay Steam Navigation Company at Revelstoke in 1890 and worked from Revelstoke to Northport, Washington.  It was purchased by the Canadian Pacific Railway in 1897 and hauled steel for the Columbia and Western Railway construction at Brooklyn and also used to tow ore barges to the smelter in Trail. From 1897 to 1901 during the navigation season the Lytton worked on the Columbia River north of Revelstoke to Laporte.  It was then used to tow barges and carry passengers between Robson and Robson West until 1902.  In 1904 it was dismantled and materials from the ship were used for home construction in Burton.

SS Duchess 1886-1888
The SS Duchess was built in 1886 in Golden for Captain F. P. Armstrong and operated on the Upper Columbia River and Lake Windermere.  It was broken up in 1888 and the salvaged materials were used for the new SS Duchess, which remained in service until 1902.

SS Moyie 1898-1957
Constructed of wood and steel, the Moyie was built in Nelson in 1898 for the Canadian Pacific Railway.  The boat was designed for the Stikine River Service but was diverted to Nelson instead.  From 1898 to 1906 the Moyie worked on the Nelson to Kootenay Landing route and was the relief steamer on the same route from 1906 to 1913, In addition to jobbing and excursion runs.  From 1913 to 1922 it ran the Crawford Bay - Nelson and Procter - Lardeau barge service and jobbing, and 1923 to 1930 saw the addition of relief work on the Nelson - Kaslo run.  The Moyie ran the Procter to Lardeau run, jobbing and excursions from 1931 to its retirement in 1957.  It was laid up April 27, 1957, after completing the longest record of service in the British Columbia River and Lake Fleet of the CPR. The restored ship is now a National Historic Site on the Kaslo lakefront.

SS Nakusp 1895-1897
Built in 1895 at Nakusp for the Columbia & Kootenay Steam Navigation Company, it was grounded on the Kootenay Rapids at Castlegar, September 1897.  It was re-floated November 1897 and burnt a month later at Arrowhead.  It was the first of the Columbia & Kootenay Steam Navigation Company's “super sternwheelers”.

SS Nasookin 1913-1932
The SS Nasookin was constructed from steel infrastructure from Port Arthur, Ontario and assembled in Nelson in 1913 for the Canadian Pacific Railway.  From 1913 to 1930 it worked the Nelson to Kootenay Landing route.  The boat was chartered in 1931 by the BC Department of Public Works for use as an automobile ferry from Fraser's Landing to Gray Creek. 

SS City of Ainsworth 1892-1898

This wooden sternwheeler was built at Ainsworth in 1892 and sold to the Nelson and Lardo Steam Navigation Company in 1893 to work between Nelson, Kaslo and Lardeau.  The SS City of Ainsworth floundered in shallow water near Kaslo while carrying a load of limestone in 1897.  It was then sold to the International Navigation and Trading Company to supplement service between Nelson and Bonners Ferry.  It capsized near Pilot Bay on November 29, 1898; nine lives were lost. 

SS Nelson 1891-1913
Built in Nelson in 1891, it was the first major sternwheeler on Kootenay Lake.  It worked on the Kaslo to Nelson to Bonners Ferry run until 1897.  From 1898-1899, the SS Nelson worked from Nelson to Kuskonook hauling supplies for construction of the BC Southern Railway.  From 1899 to 1913 it worked as relief on the Nelson - Kootenay Landing and Nelson - Kaslo -Lardeau run and chartered by Dominion Express during the fruit seasons.  From 1911 to 1912 it ran the Crawford Bay route and was used to pump water up to the Kootenay Lake Hotel at Balfour.  It was removed from service in June 1913 and torched in July 1914 as part of Nelson's Chahko Mika Carnival.

SS Aberdeen 1893-1917
The SS Aberdeen was built at Okanagan Landing in 1893 for the Canadian Pacific Railway.  It ran the Okanagan Landing to Penticton express service from 1893 to 1907.  From 1907 to 1914 it worked as the relief steamer and auxiliary service from Okanagan Landing to Penticton way stops.  It was laid up in 1916 and dismantled.

SS Minto 1898-1954
The SS Minto, constructed of both wood and steel, was built at Nakusp in 1898 for the Canadian Pacific Railway.  It was one of three wood and steel sternwheelers that were ordered for the Stikine River Service but diverted to the Kootenay region.  From 1898 to 1931 it worked during the winter season as a passenger steamer on the Arrow Lakes, switching to year round sailings from 1932 to 1954.  It was laid up in 1954 and sold to the City of Nakusp. It was later resold to John Nelson who relocated it to Galena Bay with the hopes of setting up a museum in the beached ship.  In 1968 it was towed out into the Upper Arrow Lake and set aflame in preparation for the flooding of the Arrow Lakes Reservoir.

SS Rossland 1897-1916

The SS Rossland, built in 1897 at Nakusp, is considered one of the prettiest ships to sail on the lake.  It was built for express passenger service, designed with a deep hull and noted for its speed.  The ship sank when it was caught in the ice at Nakusp in 1917.

SS Columbia 1891-1894
The SS Columbia was built in 1891 at Northport, Washington for the Columbia & Kootenay Steam Navigation Company.  It worked on the Columbia River between Revelstoke and Northport.  It was destroyed by fire in 1894 at Sayward (Columbia Gardens); its engines were used in the SS Kokanee.

SS Kootenai 1885-1895
The SS Kootenai was built in 1885 at Little Dalles, Washington and hauled supplies to Farwell (Revelstoke) for construction of the Canadian Pacific Railway.  It was purchased in 1890 by the Columbia & Kootenay Steam Navigation Company and worked that spring until the SS Lytton replaced it.  It was then used mainly as a freight boat until it sank in 1895.  The wreck was towed to Nakusp and dismantled with its fittings and machinery transferred to the SS Trail.

SS International 1896-1909
Built in 1896 in Kaslo for the International Navigation and Trading Company it worked on the Nelson-Kaslo run.  In 1902 to 1906 it operated as relief for the SS Kaslo, and when rebuilt in 1906 took over the Nelson- Kaslo run. It was retired in 1908 and was used as a tourist lodge at Riondel where the hull was destroyed by fire in 1952.

SS Hercules 1898-1921
The Hercules was a screw driven tug built in Nelson in 1898 and was used for jobbing and barging for the Kootenay Railway and Navigation Company.  In 1910 it was sold to the Yale-Columbia Lumber Company and then to Forest Mills of BC in 1913.  It was retired in 1916, returned to work and retired again in 1921.  

SS Galena 1888-1897
The SS Galena was a screw-driven steamer that was the most important vessel on Kootenay Lake prior to the construction of the SS Nelson.  It had a small cabin for passengers and a reasonable freight capacity.  It was built in 1888 at Bonners Ferry and remained in service until it floundered in 1897 at Pilot Bay.

